#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### THE FLORIDA BAR,

#### Complainant,

v.

#### ELIZABETH AILEEN BROOME,

Respondent.

Case Nos.: SC03-84, SC03-1205, SC03-1206, SC03-1931, SC04-448 and SC04-1375 (Consolidated)

TFB File Nos. 2001-01,274(1A), 2003-00,301(1A), 2002-00,811(1A), 2003-00,493(1A), 2002-00,752(1A), 2001-01,091(1A), 2004-00,174(1A), 2004-00,357(1A) and 2004-00,410(1A) (Consolidated)

#### THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

Olivia Paiva Klein, Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850) 561-5845 Florida Bar No. 0970247

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Complainant, THE FLORIDA BAR, will be referred to as "The Florida Bar" throughout the Initial Brief.

Respondent, ELIZABETH AILEEN BROOME, will be referred to as "Respondent".

References to SC Case No. SC03-84, TFB File No. 2001-01,274(1A) shall be designated as the "Samuel complaint."

References to SC Case No. SC03-1205, TFB File No. 2003-00,301(1A) shall be designated as the "First DCA complaint."

References to SC Case No. SC03-1206, TFB File No. 2002-00,811(1A) shall be designated as the "Brown complaint."

References to SC Case No. SC03-1931, TFB File No. 2003-00,493(1A) shall be designated as the "Sapp complaint."

References to SC Case No. SC03-1931, TFB File No. 2002-00,752(1A) shall be designated as the "Schmal complaint."

References to SC Case No. SC03-1931, TFB File No. 2001-01,091(1A) shall be designated as the "Phifer complaint."

References to SC Case No. SC04-448, TFB File No. 2004-00,174(1A) shall be designated as the "Smith complaint."

1

References to SC Case No. SC04-1375, TFB File No. 2004-00,357(1A) shall be designated as the "Spooner complaint."

References to SC Case No. SC04-1375, TFB File No. 2004-00,410(1A) shall be designated as the "Mailloux complaint."

References to the Transcript for the Summary Judgment Hearing on May 7, 2004, shall be designated as "TSJ" with the appropriate page number, i.e., "TSJ-4."

References to the Transcript for the Penalty Hearing on November 19, 2004, on the first six complaints, shall be designated as "TPH1" with the appropriate page number, i.e., "TPH1-45."

References to the Transcript for the Final Hearing on January 26, 2005, in the Smith complaint shall be designated as "TSmith" with the appropriate page number, i.e., "TSmith-10."

References to the Transcript for the Final Hearing on February 3, 2005, in the Spooner complaint and Mailloux complaint shall be designated as "TSM" with the appropriate page number, i.e., "TSM-5."

References to the Transcript for the Second Penalty Hearing on May 10, 2005, on all the Bar complaints, shall be designated as "TPH2" with the appropriate page number, i.e., "TPH2-15."

References to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar shall be designated as "Rules"

with the appropriate number, i.e., "Rule 4-1.3" or as "Rules."

References to the "Report of Referee" dated June 29, 2005, shall be designated as "ROR" followed by the appropriate number, i.e., "ROR-12."

References to the Florida Bar's Exhibits shall be designated as "TFB Exhibit" followed by the appropriate number, i.e., "TFB Exhibit-12."

References to Joint Exhibits shall be designated as "JT Exhibit" followed by the appropriate number, i.e., "JT Exhibit-14."

References to Respondent's Exhibits shall be designated as "R Exhibit" followed by the appropriate number, i.e., "R Exhibit-12."

References to all other pleadings and documents will be designated by their appropriate title in the record, i.e., Complaint, Motion for Summary Judgment, etc.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The first six complaints (Samuel, First DCA, Brown, Sapp, Schmal. and Phifer) were consolidated by the Florida Supreme Court and resolved via summary judgment before the referee. Respondent failed to respond to The Florida Bar's Complaint and Request for Admissions in the First DCA, Brown, Sapp, Schmal, and Phifer complaints, and on May 7, 2004, the referee granted summary judgment to The Florida Bar in all five complaints on all the factual allegations and rule violations. In the Samuel complaint, Respondent stipulated to the entry of summary judgment in favor of The Florida Bar which was granted by the referee on October 12, 2004 on all factual allegations and rule violations.

Three additional disciplinary complaints, the Smith, Spooner and Mailloux complaints, were filed against Respondent on March 16, 2004, and July 7, 2004. Respondent's counsel filed a Notice of Appearance on May 6, 2004, and moved for a continuance of the summary judgment proceedings, as well as an extension of time to file responsive pleadings. The referee denied the motion for continuance, but granted an extension of time until June 6, 2004, for Respondent to file responsive pleadings in the Smith complaint.

At the November 19, 2004, penalty hearing, the referee confirmed that he would not issue a recommended discipline in the first six complaints until the three subsequent disciplinary cases could be heard. TPH1-113, 117. The Smith complaint was set for hearing on January 26, 2005, and the Spooner and Mailloux complaints were scheduled for February 7, 2005. A final penalty hearing was held on May 10, 2005.

The referee issued his final Report of Referee for all nine disciplinary complaints on June 29, 2005, recommending a public reprimand and three-years probation for Respondent. The conditions of probation included continuation of Respondent's Florida Lawyer Assistance ("FLA") contract, dated November 18, 2004, obtaining a mentoring attorney to supervise her legal practice, with quarterly reports to The Florida Bar, a Law Office Management Assistance Service (LOMAS) evaluation, and attendance at Ethics School.

The Florida Bar petitioned for review on the referee's recommended discipline, the lack of restitution on the Sapp complaint, and for the court to consider additional aggravating factors based on the referee's findings of fact and on the face of the record. The Florida Bar submitted its Initial Brief on October 26, 2005.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Florida Bar does not dispute the referee's findings of fact and rule violations in his final report of referee. Set forth below is a brief synopsis of the factual allegations and rule violations in the final report of referee pertaining to the nine underlying disciplinary complaints that are the focus of this petition for review. The referee granted summary judgment to The Florida Bar on the findings of fact and rule violations in the following complaints as set forth in his report of referee:

Samuel Complaint ---Respondent failed to diligently represent Brian Samuel from June 28, 1999, up through June 23, 2000, on two felony drug charges, and failed to properly communicate with him. As a result, Samuel turned down an offer of probation by the State, decided to go to trial, and ended up with incarceration. During the criminal proceedings, Respondent requested and obtained numerous continuances from the Court from June 1999 through May 2000. At least three times, Respondent specifically represented to the court that she needed to continue the trial date to take depositions of the State's witnesses.

Respondent's sworn testimony at an evidentiary hearing on Samuel's motion for a new trial on December 21, 2000, provided the grounds for ethical charges by the Bar. She testified that Samuel repeatedly requested her to take depositions of the State's witnesses which she failed to do. She also testified that if she had taken the depositions, and Samuel had read over the witnesses' testimony, then he might have taken the state's plea offer more seriously rather than risk a jury trial where he was convicted.

Respondent admitted that she had failed to sit down and discuss Samuel's options and the evidence against her client before trial so that he could make informed decisions about his criminal trial. Respondent failed to respond to the grievance committee's investigating member even after a letter was sent to her requesting that she contact him to discuss the complaint. Respondent admitted to all the allegations in the Bar's complaint and stipulated to summary judgment on October 12, 2004. The referee found that Respondent violated the following Rules: 4-1.3 (Diligence), 4-1.4 (Communication), and 4-8.4(g)(2) (Failure to respond to Grievance Committee).

First DCA Complaint -- Respondent represented Terrance Beasley at his criminal trial in August 1999. Beasley was found guilty and sentenced on February 2, 2000. At least two times, Beasley advised Respondent that he wanted her to file an appeal. Two weeks after the appeal deadline, Respondent filed the notice of appeal, statement of judicial acts to be reviewed, designation to the reporter, a motion to withdraw and a motion to extend time to appeal with the circuit court. The court inadvertently signed the order to extend the appeal date and it was submitted to the First DCA along with the other appellate paperwork.

The First DCA returned the appellate pleadings because the circuit court could not extend the appeal time, and at a hearing on April 6, 2000, Respondent withdrew her motion. On the record, Respondent represented to the court that she would file a motion for belated appeal for Beasley and the court reappointed her to Beasley's case for that sole purpose. Respondent again failed to file the motion for belated appeal, and the public defender's office intervened on Beasley's behalf on June 24, 2000.

On August 25, 2000, the First DCA ordered Respondent to reply as to whether Beasley had timely requested her to file an appeal, but she ignored the Order. On December 22, 2000, the First DCA issued an Order to Show Cause as to why the matter should not be referred to The Florida Bar, but Respondent failed to reply. On August 30, 2002, the First DCA issued a second Order to Show Cause that Respondent also ignored. On September 24, 2002, the First DCA issued an Order referring Respondent's lack of compliance with its prior orders to the Florida Bar for further investigation.

Respondent failed to reply to The Florida Bar and to the grievance committee. Respondent also failed to reply to The Florida Bar's Complaint or Request for Admissions. The referee found that Respondent violated the following Rules: 4-1.2 (Scope of Representation), 4-1.3 (Diligence), 4-3.2 (Expediting Litigation), 4-3.4(c) (Failure to Obey Order of Tribunal), 4-8.4(a) (Violation of Bar Rules), 4-8.4(d) (Conduct Prejudicial to Administration of Justice); and 4-8.4(g)(1)(2) (Failure to Respond to Bar or Grievance Committee).

Brown Complaint --On October 7, 1998, William Brown, Respondent's former client, filed a small claims action against her to recover \$5,000 in legal fees previously paid to Respondent. The court referred the matter to mediation and on November 19, 1998, Respondent signed a mediation agreement in which she stipulated 1) to pay Brown \$2100, 2) forward his case file to his new attorney, and 3) if she did not comply with the mediation agreement, the court could enter a final judgment for \$5,114.50, including court costs. Respondent failed to abide by the terms of the agreement and on March 1, 1999, a final judgment was entered.

Despite her written consent to the imposition of the final judgment, Respondent filed a Motion to Set Aside the Final Judgment that was denied by the court. Brown wrote numerous letters to Respondent to resolve the debt, but she ignored him. On May 31, 2001, Brown initiated garnishment proceedings against Respondent. After Brown filed a Bar complaint, Respondent misrepresented in her reply to the Bar that she was trying to pay Brown. When the Bar complaint was referred to the grievance committee, Respondent misrepresented to them that she had offered to pay \$2000 to Brown and the balance in 30 days, but he had refused her offer.

The court required Respondent to appear at a hearing and provide a Fact Information Sheet to start a payment plan. She appeared on October 29, 2002, and again represented to the court that she would pay off the judgment by December 2, 2002, but failed to provide the FI Sheet to the court. The court ordered Respondent to either pay the judgment or provide a FI Sheet by December 2, 2002, but she failed to comply with the court order.

On January 29, 2003, Respondent wrote Brown a letter and copied it to the grievance committee offering to pay him \$500 a week beginning within one week. Brown later advised the grievance committee that he never received any payments. For over three years, Respondent misrepresented to Brown, the court, and the Bar that she would pay the debt she owed him, but always reneged on her promises.

Respondent failed to reply to The Florida Bar's Complaint or Request for Admissions. The referee found that Respondent violated the following Rules: 3-4.3 (Misconduct), 4-3.1 (Meritorious Claims and Contentions), 4-3.3 (Candor Towards Tribunal), 4-3.3(c) (Fairness to Opposing Party and Counsel), 4-8.4(c) (Misrepresentation), and 4-8.4(d) (Conduct Prejudicial to the Administration of Justice).

Sapp Complaint --Respondent was hired to represent Ricky Sapp for \$6,700 in fees, but failed to communicate with him or to contact him from June 13, 2002, through November 22, 2002. She performed no legal work on his two criminal cases, and refused

to refund his fees. Respondent waived Sapp's speedy trial rights without his consent, after he had indicated he wanted a speedy trial. She failed to provide Sapp's case file to his new counsel. Respondent failed to reply to The Florida Bar or to the grievance committee. Respondent also failed to reply to The Florida Bar's Complaint or Request for Admissions. The referee found that Respondent violated the following Rules: 4-1.3 (Diligence), 4-1.4 (Communication), 4-1.5 (Excessive Fees), 4-1.5(e) (Duty to Communicate Basis of Fees), 41.16(d) (Protection of Client's Interests), 4-8.4(g)(1) (Failure to respond to Bar), and 4-8.4(g)(2) (Failure to Respond to the Grievance Committee).

Schmal Complaint -- The sole issue was failure to respond to the Bar. Respondent also failed to reply to The Florida Bar's Complaint or Request for Admissions. The referee found Respondent violated Rule 4-8.4(g)(1)(Failure to Respond to the Bar).

Phifer Complaint -- Respondent was hired to file a post conviction relief motion in March 1997 for Angelo Phifer, but failed to file it until February 1, 1999. The court denied the motion on February 25, 1999, finding that Phifer's original sentence was imposed on September 11, 1996, and with a two-year statute of limitations, the motion was time barred. Respondent failed to reply to two Bar inquiry letters sent to 2 different addresses. Respondent failed to reply to The Florida Bar's Complaint or Request for Admissions. The referee found Respondent violated Rules 4-1.1 (Competence), 4-1.3 (Diligence), and 4-8.4(g)(1) (Failure to respond to Bar).

A disciplinary hearing was held on January 26, 2005, and the referee made the following findings of fact:

Smith Complaint -- Respondent was hired to represent Eugene Smith on a charge of Driving While License Suspended (DWLS)-Third Conviction. ROR-18. The referee found that the fee of \$3900 for 5 criminal cases was reasonable, and it was not necessary for the fee agreement to be in writing. ROR-19 The referee found that Respondent communicated on numerous occasions with Smith and adequately represented him. ROR-20. The referee did not make any determination as to whether Smith had a valid driver's icense at the time of his arrest. ROR-20. Respondent could not produce a retainer agreement, billing records or client case file to support her testimony. TSmith-16-17. Most of the information obtained by the Florida Bar came from Mr. Smith's criminal file at the courthouse, or other public records. See TSmith, JT Exhibits 1-15, 17-23. TFB Exhibits 1-4. It was not until the day of the disciplinary hearing that Respondent produced a driver's license record for her client. See TSmith, R Exhibit 1. The referee found that if Respondent had timely responded to The Florida Bar regarding Mr. Smith, it might not have been necessary to hold a disciplinary hearing. ROR-21. The referee did find that Respondent failed to reply to The Florida Bar, and failed to respond to the grievance committee violating Rules 4-8.4(g)(1) (Failure to respond to Bar), and 4-8.4(g)(2) (Failure to respond to the Grievance Committee). ROR-35-36.

A disciplinary hearing was held on February 7, 2005, and the referee made the following findings of fact:

Spooner Complaint -- Tracy Spooner's parents paid Respondent \$10,000 to file a motion for post conviction relief and, if denied, to file an appeal of the denial. TSM-19, 116-117. Respondent entered into a written fee agreement with Spooner's parents. The Florida Bar alleged lack of diligence, lack of TSM-19, TFB Exhibit-3. communication, and excessive fees because Respondent never filed any appeal of the post conviction motion for her client, and failed to return the unearned fees. See The Florida Bar's Complaint. The referee found, however, that, because the Spooners elected not to allow Respondent to continue with the appeal, there was no clearly excessive fee. **ROR-31** The referee found that Respondent had reasonably communicated with her client, and had adequately represented him in his criminal appeal. ROR-29-30 The referee found that Respondent failed to respond to The Florida Bar and violated Rule 4-8.4(g)(1) (Failure to respond to Bar).

Mailloux Complaint -- Respondent was hired by Richard Mailloux on February 7, 2003, to represent him on a Motion for Modification or Reduction of Sentence, and/or a Motion to Withdraw his plea and was paid \$1,000. TSM, TFB Exhibit-25. Respondent

advised her client to wait until the present judge rotated out of the division and then she would pursue his post conviction motion. TSM-231 Respondent spoke with Mailloux in April 2003, and promised her client that as soon as the judges rotated assignments, she would file his motion for post conviction relief. TSM-231 Respondent had a plan to get the matter before a new judge, but then decided her strategy would be unethical because it involved encouraging Mailloux to file a frivolous pleading. TSM-229-232. The referee found that Respondent failed to advise Mailloux that she was not going to pursue his case, and should have returned his fees. ROR- Respondent conceded at the final hearing that she should return Mailloux's money because she was unable to accomplish for him what she had originally intended to do. TSM-231. Respondent admitted that she failed to respond to The Florida Bar. The referee found that Respondent violated Rules 4-1.4 (Communication), and 4-8.4(g)(1) (Failure to respond to the Bar).

The referee found the following mitigating factors under Standard 9.32: (a) absence of prior disciplinary record, (c) personal or emotional problems, (h) physical or mental disability or impairment, and (j) interim rehabilitation.

The referee also found the following aggravating factors under Standard 9.22: (c) pattern of misconduct, and (d) multiple offenses. Finally, the referee recommended a disciplinary sanction of a public reprimand for all nine complaints with three-years probation, and granted taxable costs to The Florida Bar.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar contends that (1) the appropriate disciplinary sanction under the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and the relevant case law is a one-year suspension, not the public reprimand recommended by the referee; 2) based on the referee's specific findings of fact and of Rule violation 4-1.5(a)(1), the referee erred when he did not order restitution in the Sapp complaint on the sole basis that Mr. Sapp had a civil suit pending; 3) based on the referee's findings of fact and the face of the record, the court should consider additional aggravating factors in this case under Standards 9.22(e), (i), and (j).

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

# THE COURT SHOULD IMPOSE A ONE-YEAR SUSPENSION AS AN APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE UNDER THE FLORIDA LAWYER STANDARDS AND RELEVANT CASE LAW.

The Florida Bar contends that the referee's recommendation of a public reprimand is not reasonable under the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and the relevant case law. <u>The Florida Bar v. Temmer</u>, 753 So.2d 555, 558 (Fla. 1999). The imposition of a public reprimand by the referee is too lenient for nine disciplinary cases at issue and the multitude of rule violations found by the referee. ROR- 34-36. The referee also found as aggravating factors that there was a pattern of misconduct over a long period of time and multiple offenses. ROR-42. This Court should impose a one-year suspension as an appropriate discipline because it serves the three-fold purposes of discipline, and comports with the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions as well as the relevant case law. In addition, it is a lesser discipline than has been imposed in similar cases, and takes into account the mitigating factors of no prior disciplinary history as well as Respondent's mental and personal problems considered by the referee. ROR-40-42.

It is a well established maxim that a disciplinary sanction must serve three purposes:

First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of

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