IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

ELIZABETH AILEEN BROOME,

Respondent.

Case No.: SC03-84, SC03-1205, SC03-1206, SC03-1931, SC04-448 and SC04-1375 (Consolidated)

TFB File No.: 2001-01,274(1A), 2003-00,301(1A), 2002-00,811(1A), 2003-00,493(1A), 2002-00,752(1A), 2001-01,091(1A), 2004-00,174(1A), 2004-00,357(1A) and 2004-00,410(1A) (Consolidated)

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

LOIS B. LEPP Lois B. Lepp, P.A. 1127 N. Palafox St. Pensacola, Florida 32501 (850) 435-1090 Florida Bar No.: 855634 Attorney for Respondent

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

Because this was a medical condition that caused the misconduct, other attorneys can not possibly be encouraged to commit the same type of misconduct. By the same token, this recommended penalty is fair to Respondent, punishes her breach and yet encourages her continued rehabilitation. The Referee stated that his recommendation "meets the purposes of discipline." ROR-43.

ii. Recommended Penalty Has Basis In Existing Case Law

This Court has repeatedly held that it will uphold the recommendation of the

Referee, if same is based in existing case law. "[T]he referee in a Bar proceeding again occupies a favored vantage point for assessing key considerations– such as a respondent's degree of culpability, and his or her cooperation, forthrightness, remorse and rehabilitation (or potential for rehabilitation). Accordingly, we will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing caselaw." <u>The Florida Bar v. Lecznar</u>, 690 So. 2d 1284, 1288 (Fla. 1997). This Referee was aware of the three-fold purposes of discipline when he stated, "I am persuaded by the cases of <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Grigsby</u>, 641 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1994) and <u>The Florida Bar v. Moran</u>, 273 So. 2d 379 (Fla. 1973) that the recommended penalty meets the purposes of discipline." ROR-43.

The existing case law, cited by the Referee, supports the Referee's recommendations. In <u>Grigsby</u>, the attorney failed to respond to the Bar's numerous requests for information about the case. "The referee found that Grigsby suffers from clinical depression for which he has voluntarily sought treatment, and although Grigsby's illness explained his conduct, it did not excuse it. Thus, the referee recommends that Grigsby be found guilty of the misconduct charged." <u>Grigsby</u>, 641 So. 2d at 1342. The referee recommended that Grigsby be publicly reprimanded, be placed on three years' conditional probation, during which time

Grigsby must continue therapy and be supervised by an attorney who will monitor his case files, and that Grigsby pay the Bar's monitoring costs. <u>Id</u>.

Significantly, Grigsby had two prior disciplines including an admonishment for inadequate communication with a client and failure to respond to the Bar's inquiries and a 90 day suspension for lack of diligence and lack of communication with several clients. Because of Grigsby's disciplinary history- absent in the case at bar - the Bar petitioned for a only a 90 day suspension, plus three years' conditional probation. This Court rejected the Bar's position, despite the two prior disciplinary matters, and stated:

As to the appropriate discipline, the Bar is correct that as a general rule a suspension is appropriate when an attorney is found guilty of misconduct that causes injury or potential injury to the legal system or to the profession and that misconduct is similar to that for which the attorney has been disciplined in the past. <u>However, under the circumstances, we do not believe that a suspension is warranted</u>. The referee's findings that Grigsby suffers from clinical depression for which he voluntarily sought professional help is not challenged. Since Grigsby's failure to respond to the Bar's requests was <u>likely caused</u> by this mental disability, we believe the recommended discipline is adequate.

Id at 1343 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In Respondent's case, the uncontroverted evidence is that Respondent suffers from clinical depression, that her failure to respond to the Bar and her clients was *actually* caused by her depression, that she voluntarily sought treatment, that she has made remarkable improvement over the course of these proceedings, and that she is now capable of practicing law. ROR-41. Respondent does not have two prior disciplines for the same misconduct, as did Grigsby. The terms and conditions of the Referee's proposed conditional probation are similar to those in <u>Grigbsy</u>, if not more stringent, and are more than adequate to meet the purposes of discipline.

<u>The Florida Bar v. Moran</u>, 273 So. 2d 379 (Fla. 1973) also supports the Referee's recommended penalty. In <u>Moran</u>, the attorney was found "guilty of neglect in the prosecution of his cases" and made a misrepresentation to the court. <u>Id</u> at 379. The <u>Moran</u> referee recommended a public reprimand, three years' conditional probation with terms that include monitoring of his work by another attorney and quarterly reports by the attorney's physician that the attorney is continuing to make progress. This Court upheld that recommendation and found that suspension of the attorney while making significant efforts at rehabilitation would be harmful. The Court specifically addressed that the terms of the conditional probation adequately protected the public. Specifically, the Court stated:

It appears from the record that respondent is the victim of certain personal and medical difficulties which in the past have impaired his performance as an attorney. However, the testimony of respondent's physician indicates that respondent is rapidly returning to good health and that his health and self-discipline increase with each passing month. It is the opinion of the physician that respondent is now capable of practicing law in a competent manner and that his fitness and capability will continue to improve with the passage of time. This opinion is borne out by evidence in the record disclosing that cases currently being handled by respondent are being diligently and effectively prosecuted. Thus, in our opinion <u>it is unnecessary and</u> <u>might in fact be harmful to respondent's apparent rehabilitation to</u> <u>suspend respondent from the practice of law at this time. Conversely,</u> <u>our duty to the public and the legal profession makes it imperative that</u> <u>respondent be adequately supervised to insure his continued diligence</u> <u>in the future.</u> We therefore find ourselves in general agreement with the recommendation of the Referee that respondent be publicly reprimanded and placed on probation for a three-year period.

Id at 379-380 (emphasis added).

The evidence in the case at bar is very similar to <u>Moran</u>. Respondent neglected her cases. Respondent has suffered from personal and medical difficulties which have impaired her performance as an attorney. ROR-40-43. Respondent's physician– a psychiatrist– has opined that Respondent has made significant progress and that Respondent is capable of practicing law. ROR-41; TPH2-43. Respondent testified that she is handling her cases more diligently (TPH2-13). Respondent's physician has opined that it would be detrimental to Respondent's continued recovery if Respondent were to be suspended at this time. ROR-41-42; TPH1-52; TPH2-44. The Referee, like the <u>Moran</u> referee, considered the duty to the public in making the recommendation of public reprimand and conditional probation. ROR-42-43. The <u>Moran</u> case serves as solid basis in existing case law for this Court to adopt the recommendation of the Referee as to the recommended discipline.

The Bar admits that the findings of the referee in Moran are similar to those in Respondent's case, but the Bar makes an exception for the Moran case, because Mr. Moran had a "physical problem for which he had obtained successful medical treatment." TFB Brief-27. Depression is a legitimate medical condition. TPH1-49. It is not a condition that allows someone to just pull themselves up by the boot straps. TPH1-49. So if Respondent had a physical problem it would be better, according to the Bar, most likely because our society can more easily deal with a physical problem. If the Respondent had undiagnosed or untreated brain cancer that was affecting her ability to practice and she did not recognize that she had symptoms that were impacting her practice of law, then sought treatment and was returning to good health, the Bar would find this more acceptable. In fact, under a cancer scenario, the Bar would probably find excusable neglect. But, Moran does not say Mr. Moran had a physical illness. It says Mr. Moran had "medical difficulties" and that his "control and self-discipline" were increasing. Moran, 273 So. 2d at 379. Thus, the Bar's exception for Mr. Moran's medical difficulties is equally applicable to Respondent's medical difficulties. Like in Moran, Respondent has shown that she is currently capable of practicing. TPH1-19, 57, 61; TPH2-5, 14, 43.

Although not cited by the Referee, <u>The Florida Bar v. Rosetti</u>, 379 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 1980) also supports this Referee's recommended discipline. Mr. Rosetti engaged in inexcusable neglect which continued over a period of time. The <u>Rosetti</u> referee found that "all the charges are based on inexcusable neglect, and totally absent is any evidence that this Respondent is guilty of anything other than his past demonstrated inability to cope with the rigors attendant to the practice of law. Such demonstrated incompetence can not be permitted to go unchecked." <u>Id</u> at 363. In <u>Rosetti</u>, there was no evidence of clinical depression, and there was prior discipline for the same type of misconduct, yet this Court found that the referee's recommendation of a public reprimand and three years' conditional probation with supervision, met the purposes of discipline.

In <u>Rosetti</u>, the referee stated, "Having heard and observed this witness, your [r]eferee is convinced of [r]espondent's sincerity and conviction that, given an opportunity, he can now function as a practicing lawyer. The improvement in his demeanor and appearance is no less than dramatic." <u>Id</u> at 363-64.

This Referee essentially made the same comment about this Respondent. Respondent "had made 'significant improvement', which this Referee witnessed in Respondent's appearance and demeanor. Respondent, herself, testified that she had not been as healthy in 14 years." ROR-41.

Thus, sufficient case law exists which serves as a basis for the Referee's recommendations.

iii. Recommended Penalty Is Supported By Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions

Additionally, the recommended discipline is supported by the applicable

provisions of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Standard 4.4,

Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sanc., provides that:

Absent aggravating or *mitigating circumstances*, and upon the application of the factors set out in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving a failure to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client:

•••

4.42 Suspension is appropriate when:

. .

(b) a lawyer engages in a pattern of neglect and causes injury or potential injury to a client.

Standard 4.4, Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sanc. (emphasis added).

Respondent argued to the Referee that Standard 4.42(b), Fla. Stds. Imposing

Law. Sanc., was the correct Standard as a beginning point for determination of

appropriate discipline, provided that aggravating and mitigating factors were

considered. TPH1-89. When the significant mitigators are considered, suspension

is no longer appropriate under this Standard. See, Grisgby, 641 So. 2d at 1343

(suspension generally appropriate under Standards, especially where prior

discipline, but mitigating factor reduced to public reprimand and probation).

Standard 6.2, Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sanc., provides as follows:

Absent aggravating or *mitigating circumstances*, and upon the application of the factors set out in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving failure to expedite litigation or bring a meritorious claim, or failure to obey any obligation under the rules of a tribunal except for an open refusal based on an assertion that no valid obligation exists:

• • •

6.23 Public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer <u>negligently</u> fails to comply with a court order or rule, and causes injury or potential injury to a client or other party, or causes interference or potential interference with a legal proceeding.

Standard 6.2, Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sanc. (emphasis added).

The evidence establishes unequivocally that Respondent was negligent in her failure to respond to the DCA's orders and in failing to move her clients' cases along. This negligence was caused by her clinical depression. She did not intentionally fail to act. She did not intentionally cause any harm to her clients. TPH1-51.

The Referee's recommended discipline of a public reprimand before the Referee and three years' conditional probation with the requirement of continued compliance with her FLA contract, a LOMAS review, an attorney monitor, attendance at ethics school, and payment of the Bar's costs is supported by the existing case law and by the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, and meets the purposes of discipline as set forth by this Court. Because the Referee's recommended discipline is supported by existing case law, the recommendation should be upheld.

iv. Bar's Arguments Against Mitigating Factors Not Supported by the Record

The Bar is asking this Court to penalize Respondent for having an untreated medical condition which she did not realize was as severe as it had become by the time she finally sought therapy. True enough that Respondent did not know that her depression had become so bad until after the numerous bar complaints were filed. TPH1-25; 51-52. Respondent repeatedly testified to the analogy of her unknowing decline in function to that of placing a frog in water that is slowly heated versus in a pot of boiling water. TPH1-11; TPH2-12. The Bar argues that Respondent did not seek treatment until after disciplinary proceedings had begun. The very nature of Surely, if she could have, she would have. TPH1-49. depression is the inability to do certain things. TPH1-49-50. The Bar wants to penalize Respondent because she was unable to take the first step until she was facing summary judgment. But she finally took the first step in the days prior to the summary judgment hearing when she hired counsel, who made the referral to a psychiatrist. TPH1-10. In Respondent's very first action in these bar proceedings, her counsel's motion for continuance filed on or about May 6, 2004, Respondent

argued that she suffered from depression as the cause of her non-response. R's Motion for Continuance. Thereafter, Respondent sought voluntary psychiatric treatment and voluntarily entered into a contract with FLA. Respondent has been "very compliant" with the treatment recommendations of her psychiatrist. ROR-41. Respondent testified that she was thankful for these proceedings because it caused her to realize how sick she was. ROR-42; TPH1-25; TPH2-8.

Respondent was still somewhat functional but she did not realize that her disease had progressed to the point that it had become life threatening. TPH1-19. The Florida Bar's position appears to be that if Respondent had been completely non-functional instead of the low level of functioning that she was doing (TPH1-19), then the Bar might be more understanding. Thankfully, Respondent was meeting the minimum requirements for some of her clients. Respondent suggests that if she had been totally non-functional, the Bar would be seeking disbarment. It was Respondent's psychiatrist who testified that Respondent's failure to respond to the Bar and failures with respect to her clients was caused by her depression. TPH1-49. The Bar did not put on any testimony to contradict the testimony of the psychiatrist that Respondent suffered from clinical depression and that her actions and omissions were caused by her medical condition.

To now argue that Respondent's mental health condition did not affect her

practice because she was able to be somewhat functional and that competent and substantial evidence of depression is only an 'excuse' is contrary to all of the evidence.² To now suggest, as the Bar does in its Initial Brief, that Respondent's "claim that 'severe mental depression' is the 'cause' of her misconduct is contradicted by the oral and documentary evidence presented by the Respondent" (TFB Brief-30) and that the Referee's findings of mitigating factors under Standards 9.32(c), 9.32(h) and 9.32(j) is inconsistent with other findings (TFB Brief-27) is challenging the findings by the Referee that such depression was the cause of her misconduct. ROR-41-43. The Bar has not raised this issue on appeal and it should not be considered by this Court. Respondent has shown that her depression impaired her ability to practice law. The Referee's finding in this regard is well supported by the testimony of Respondent's psychiatrist and should be upheld by this Court.

Respondent has never asked this Court to dismiss the charges against her because her misconduct was caused by her mental illness. She has asked this Court

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